Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies

TITLE 11. Libraries

Agency State Library

Subject Standard for Fire-Resistive Vaults and Safes

Inclusive Sections §§ 11-8-1—11-8-26

CONTENTS

- Sec. 11-8-1. Definitions
- Sec. 11-8-2. Design of vault
- Sec. 11-8-3. Foundation
- Sec. 11-8-4. Floor
- Sec. 11-8-5. Walls
- Sec. 11-8-6. Bonding of wall, floor and roof
- Sec. 11-8-7. Roof
- Sec. 11-8-8. Vault doors
- Sec. 11-8-9. Dampproofing
- Sec. 11-8-10. Services to vault
- Sec. 11-8-11. Vault operating practices
- Sec. 11-8-12. Fire-resistive safes

Examination of the Indexes and Inspection of Records of the Towns

- Sec. 11-8-13. Examination of the indexes and inspection of the records of the towns
- Sec. 11-8-14. Definitions
- Sec. 11-8-15. Conduct of the examination of the indexes of the land records
- Sec. 11-8-16. Inspection of records
- Sec. 11-8-17. Certification
- Sec. 11-8-18. Enforcement

Filing Requirements for Maps

- Sec. 11-8-19. Filing requirements for maps
- Sec. 11-8-20. Definitions
- Sec. 11-8-21. Map standards
- Sec. 11-8-22. Map standards—exceptions
- Sec. 11-8-23. Receipt of maps
- Sec. 11-8-24. Index of maps
- Sec. 11-8-25. Photographic reproduction of maps
- Sec. 11-8-26. Storage of maps

§11-8-2

Standard for Fire-Resistive Vaults and Safes

Sec. 11-8-1. Definitions

The following terms, when used in sections 11-8-1 to 11-8-12, inclusive, have the following meanings:

(a) "Approved" as applied to a material or piece of equipment, means one which has been tested and is listed by Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc., or any other nationally recognized testing laboratory.

(b) "Fire-resistive building" means a building whose structural members are of noncombustible material throughout and which can withstand a fire completely consuming combustible contents, trim and floor surfacing on any floor without collapse.

(c) "Nonfire-resistive building" means a building whose structural members, including floors and roof, cannot withstand a fire completely consuming combustible contents, trim and floor surfacing without collapse.

(d) "Vault" means a completely fire-resistive enclosure so equipped, maintained and supervised as to minimize the possibility of origin of fire within and to prevent entrance of fire from without.

(e) "Ground-supported vault" means one which is supported by the ground up and which is structurally independent of the building in which it is located.

(f) "Structure-supported vault" means one which is supported by the framework of a fire-resistive building and which may be situated independently on any floor of such building.

(g) The term "vault door," as used in sections 11-8-1 to 11-8-12, inclusive, designates and is limited to vault door units approved and labeled as such by Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc., or any other nationally recognized testing laboratories.

(h) "Roof of vault" means the ceiling or roof of a single vault, or the ceiling or roof of the topmost vault of a tier; not the slab between vaults in a tier, which is classed as a floor.

Sec. 11-8-2. Design of vault

(a) In a fire-resistive building, the vault may be of either the ground-supported or structure-supported type. In a nonfire-resistive building the vault shall be of the ground-supported type. Walls of the building shall not be used as walls of the vault.

(b) The vault shall be located in a normally dry place, preferably accessible to the section of the building where the records are used.

(c) Standard record vaults shall not exceed fifteen thousand cubic feet in volume, and the interior height shall not exceed ten feet.

(d) A vault shall be of such design and construction as to insure that the structure will withstand satisfactorily all of the conditions which a severe fire may impose on it. Plans and specifications shall be prepared and construction supervised by a registered engineer or architect.

Sec. 11-8-3. Foundation

§11-8-3

(a) **Structure-supported vaults.** The supporting structure shall be of adequate strength to carry the entire load of the vault and its contents. There shall be no combustible material in any portion of the supporting members of the structure. Structural members of the building which support the vault shall have all steelwork protected by at least four inches of fireproofing concrete.

(b) **Ground-supported vaults.** Foundations for ground-supported vaults shall be reinforced concrete adequate for the entire load of the vault structure and contents. Supporting structural members shall have all steelwork protected by at least four inches of fireproofing concrete.

Sec. 11-8-4. Floor

(a) **Structure-supported vaults.** The floor of the fire-resistive building may serve for the floor of the vault, if it is of noncombustible construction throughout and complies with the following requirements: (1) The floor of the vault shall be reinforced concrete not less than six inches thick; if exposed to undue fire hazard from outside the vault, it shall have a thickness equivalent to that required for the walls. (2) The floor of the vault shall be used for flooring surfacing.

(b) **Ground-supported vaults.** Where the floor of the vault rests on grade, or on compacted gravel fill, the minimum thickness shall be that required to support the load. In all other cases minimum thickness shall be six inches. The requirements in subdivisions (1), (2) and (3) of subsection (a) for structure-supported vaults shall apply, and in nonfire-resistive buildings the floor of the vault shall be independent of the floor construction of the rest of the building.

Sec. 11-8-5. Walls

(a) **Construction.** (1) Walls shall be reinforced concrete, or brickwork with vertical as well as horizontal joints filled with mortar; or, in a fire-resistive building, a framework of heat-protected steel or reinforced concrete with panels of reinforced concrete or brickwork. Reinforcement for concrete shall consist of steel rods at least one-half inch in diameter spaced six inches on center and running at right angles in both directions. Rods shall be securely wired at intersections not over twelve inches apart in both directions and be installed centrally in the wall or panel. (2) Where a structural steel frame is used the steel shall be protected with at least four inches of concrete, brickwork or its equivalent, tied with steel ties or wire mesh equivalent to No. 8 A.S.W. gage wire on eight-inch pitch. Brick protection if used shall be filled solidly to the steel with concrete. (3) The walls of a structure-supported vault shall follow the panels of the building wherever possible and shall extend from floor to ceiling of the building in each story where a vault is located. If vaults are located on more than one floor of a building, they should preferably be placed one above the other in the several stories. (4) No combustible material shall be used for trim or partitions.

(b) **Thickness.** Walls for four-hour vaults shall not be less than eight inches thick if of reinforced concrete or twelve inches if of brick; walls for six-hour vaults, not less than ten inches thick if of reinforced concrete or twelve inches if of brick. Heavier walls may be required to take care of unusual structural conditions, loads or local hazards.

(c) **Openings in walls.** (1) Interior walls of vaults, that is, those walls which are entirely within the building, shall be unpierced except for protected openings which are required for essential facilities specifically mentioned in this standard. Door openings shall be protected with vault doors. (2) Exterior walls of vaults, that is, those which are exterior walls of the building, shall be unpierced except by exhaust vents essential for proper ventilation. Such openings shall be protected with approved dampers or with approved fire doors suitable for openings in exterior walls. (d) There shall be no openings from vaults into elevator, stairway, conveyor or other shafts.

Sec. 11-8-6. Bonding of wall, floor and roof

The requirements of sections 2237, 2238, 2239 and 2242 (e) of NFPA Standard No. 232, Protection of Records, shall be strictly observed.

Sec. 11-8-7. Roof

(a) **Structure-supported vaults.** In structure-supported vaults, the roof or floor of the fire-resistive buildings may served for the roof of the vault, if it is of noncombustible construction throughout and complies with the following requirements: (1) The roof of the vault shall be of reinforced concrete on reinforced concrete or protected steel supports. (2) The roof of the vault shall be at least six inches thick; if it is subject to unusual impact or exposed to undue fire hazard from outside the vault, it shall have a thickness equivalent to that required for the walls. (3) All interior structural steel shall be protected with at least two inches of fireproofing. (4) Roofs of vaults shall not be pierced for any purpose.

(b) **Ground-supported vaults.** In ground-supported vaults, the requirements in subdivisions (1) to (4), inclusive, of subsection (a) shall apply. In addition, in a nonfire-resistive building, the roofs of vaults shall be entirely independent of the wall, floor, ceiling, columns, piers or roof construction of the building.

Sec. 11-8-8. Vault doors

(a) **Classification.** Each door opening in the vault shall be provided with a vault door unit bearing a rating, in hours of fire-resistance, comparable to the classification of the walls of the vault. Ordinary fire doors such as hollow metal, tinclad, sheet metal or metalclad types, steel plate types and file room doors are not acceptable as vault doors.

(b) **Installation.** Installation of the vault door unit shall be made in conformity with instructions supplied by the manufacturer and shall be entrusted only to those experienced in such installation work.

(c) **Escape device.** The door-locking mechanism shall be of a type enabling a person accidently locked inside the vault to open the door from the inside.

§11-8-9

State Library

Sec. 11-8-9. Dampproofing

When the walls, floor or roof of a vault are dampproofed, methods and materials used shall be such that the desired fire-resistance of the vault will not be impaired.

Sec. 11-8-10. Services to vault

(a) **Lighting.** (1) Lighting shall be electric, with all interior wiring in conduit and installed in accordance with the National Electric Code, NFPA No. 70. Conduit if exposed shall preferably be located on the ceiling; where it is carried through the wall of the vault the hole shall be made as small as possible and the space around the conduit shall be completely filled with cement grouting. Floors and roofs shall not be pierced for conduit. (2) The wiring shall provide as many fixed lamps as needed for adequate illumination, and may provide a reasonable number of convenience outlets. There shall be no pendant or extension cord within the vault. (3) Wiring shall be so arranged that both wires of the circuit are disconnected when the lights are out. Main switches shall be outside the vault and provided with a pilot light.

(b) **Heating.** Heating shall be by hot water, steam, approved radiant electrical units or forced warm air heating. See subsection (c) for the standard to be followed in installing forced air duct work. Coils or radiators shall be so located as to avoid the possibility of any records coming in contact with them. Piping should preferably be placed overhead. Where the pipe is carried through the wall, the hole shall be made as small as possible, the pipe provided with a close-fitting noncombustible sleeve, and the space around the outside of the sleeve shall be completely filled with cement grouting. Floors and roofs shall not be pierced for piping. Open flame heaters or portable electric heaters shall not be used.

(c) Ventilation. Ventilation of the interior should preferably be through door openings. Where it is imperative that a ventilating system be provided, it should be recognized that the presence of this system adds to the possibility of entrance of fire or damaging heat from outside. To minimize this possibility, the system shall be installed in accordance with the Standard for Air Conditioning Systems, NFPA No. 90A, and the following safeguards shall be taken: (1) All air conditioning apparatus, fans, filters, etc., shall be located outside the vault. (2) Each duct shall be provided with an adjustable fire damper equipped with approved automatic means for closing it and shutting down fans in the event of fire outside or inside the vault. (3) Ducts shall be located so as to avoid the possibility of records coming in contact with them. (4) Where a duct is carried through the wall, its installation shall be such that it will not impair the ability of the vault to protect its contents. The floors and roofs of vaults shall not be pierced for ducts.

Sec. 11-8-11. Vault operating practices

(a) **Equipment.** (1) Filing equipment shall be noncombustible throughout. (2) Loose papers shall not be filed on open shelving. (3) Arrangement of filing devices shall be such that they will be in short sections and with ample aisles between for convenient access and to retard the spread of fire. (4) Open-front containers should be located at least thirty-six inches away from door openings; fully enclosed containers at least four inches away from

door openings. (5) The bottoms of the lowest record storage spaces should be not less than four inches above the floor of the vault.

(b) **Supervision.** The vault shall be under responsible supervision from opening until closing time and inspections shall be made daily, particularly before closing time, to insure that all containers are closed, no records are left on top of containers or elsewhere exposed, all waste papers are removed, and vault doors are closed and locked.

(c) **Housekeeping.** (1) General cleanliness shall be of the highest type. (2) No materials other than records and record storage equipment shall be permitted in vaults at any time. (3) Safety photographic film may be treated as records, but flammable nitrate film shall not, under any circumstances, be kept in record vaults. (4) Smoking inside vaults shall be forbidden, and "No Smoking" signs shall be prominently displayed.

Sec. 11-8-12. Fire-resistive safes

No safe, file cabinet or record container in which records designated by the public records administrator as essential operating records of the state or of any of its political subdivisions are housed shall bear lower than a Class C rating, as established by Underwriters' Laboratories, Inc., or any other nationally recognized testing authority, unless such safe, file cabinet or record container is protected within a suitable fire-resistive vault. The public records administrator may, if the importance of the records to be housed or the severity of the environmental fire hazard warrants, require the use of Class B or Class A equipment, as so established.

Examination of the Indexes and Inspection of Records of the Towns

Sec. 11-8-13. Examination of the indexes and inspection of the records of the towns

Sections 11-8-13 to 11-8-17 inclusive apply to the performance of the examination of the indexes of the land records of the towns and an inspection of the records for the preceding year as required pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-14.

(Effective December 23, 1988)

Sec. 11-8-14. Definitions

(a) "Land records" means a designated series of books in the custody of the Town Clerk in which all instruments affecting real property which are required by law to be recorded, are so recorded pursuant to Section 7-24 of the General Statutes.

(b) "Indexes of the land records" means the grantor and grantee indexes to the land records prepared in accordance with the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-25.

(c) "Examination of the indexes" means an examination to determine the accuracy of the indexes of the land records prepared pursuant to Section 7-25 of the General Statutes.

(d) "Inspection of the records" means a physical inspection of all records of a town in order to ascertain their condition pursuant to Section 7-14 of the General Statutes.

(e) "Verification process" means a method of examination of indexes of land records in

<u>§11-8-15</u>

State Library

which the accuracy of entries made onto the indexes is determined through the use of the microfilm prepared for archival storage of the original land records.

(f) "Certificate" means a written statement which affirms that the examination of the indexes and inspection of records pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes Section 7-14 have been completed.

(g) "Summary statement" means a concise narrative prepared by the selectmen or administrative head of the town setting forth the results of the examination of the indexes and the inspection of the records pursuant to Section 7-14 of the General Statutes.

(Effective December 23, 1988)

Sec. 11-8-15. Conduct of the examination of the indexes of the land records

(a) An examination of the indexes of the land records of each town in the state must be done annually for the preceding calendar year as required pursuant to Section 7-14 of the General Statutes.

(b) The selectmen or administrative head of the town shall annually appoint a suitable person or persons to examine the indexes of the land records of their respective towns pursuant to Section 7-14 of the General Statutes.

(c) Examinations of the indexes of the land records may take place on-site in the office of the town clerk or at off-site locations using the verification process.

(d) The person appointed to conduct the examination shall provide the selectmen or administrative head of the town, and the town clerk with a report in writing stating all errors and omissions in the land records indexes.

(e) The town clerk of each town shall correct all errors and omissions in the land records indexes pursuant to Section 7-26 of the General Statutes.

(Effective December 23, 1988)

Sec. 11-8-16. Inspection of records

(a) The selectmen or administrative head of the town shall for the preceding calendar year, undertake an inspection of the town records as defined by Section 11-8-14 (d) of these regulations as required pursuant to Section 7-14 of the General Statutes.

(b) The selectmen or administrative head of the town shall cause any records found, as the result of such inspection, to be in need of repair or rebinding to be so repaired or rebound.

(Effective December 23, 1988)

Sec. 11-8-17. Certification

The selectmen or administrative head shall, on or before December thirtieth of each year, file a summary statement as defined by section 11-8-14 (g) of these regulations and a certificate with the public records administrator that the examination of the indexes and inspection of the records have been completed pursuant to Section 7-14 of the General Statutes.

Such certificate shall be in the following form:

Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies

TITLE 11. Libraries

State Library		§11-8-20
CERTIFI	CATE	
THE SELECTMEN/ADMINISTRATIVE HE. CERTIFY TO THE PUBLIC RECORDS ADM TIONS OF INDEXES AND INSPECTIONS (TION 7-14 OF THE GENERAL STATUTES (COMPLETED FOR THE PERIOD JANUAR)	AINISTRATOF OF RECORDS OF CONNECT	R THAT THE EXAMINA- AS REQUIRED BY SEC- ICUT HAVE BEEN
Selectmen or Administrative Head		
Subscribed and success to before meethic	(4)	Marth of 10
Subscribed and sworn to before me this	(day)	Month of 19
Notary Public		
Commissioner of the Superior Court		

(Effective December 23, 1988)

Sec. 11-8-18. Enforcement

The public records administrator may withdraw or withhold his acceptance of a certificate if he believes an examination and inspection were not done in accordance with Sections 11-8-15 to 11-8-17 of these regulations, and shall seek enforcement of the regulation by the state librarian pursuant to Section 11-8 of the General Statutes.

(Effective December 23, 1988)

Filing Requirements for Maps

Sec. 11-8-19. Filing requirements for maps

Section 11-8-19 to 11-8-25 inclusive apply to the filing requirements for maps or plans that are received and placed on file in the office of the town clerks of the towns pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes, Section 7-31 and Section 7-32.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

Sec. 11-8-20. Definitions

For the purposes of sections 11-8-19 to 11-8-25, inclusive of these regulations:

(a) "Design Professional" means an architect, as defined in section 20-288(2) of the Connecticut General Statutes, a professional engineer, as defined in section 20-299(1) of the Connecticut General Statutes, a land surveyor, as defined in section 20-299(2) of the Connecticut General Statutes, or a landscape architect, as defined in section 20-367(3) of the Connecticut General Statutes.

<u>§11-8-21</u>

State Library

(b) "Live Seal" means raised seal.

(c) "Live Stamp" means an original stamp.

(d) "Map" means a survey map or land survey on a plane surface, at an established scale, of the physical features (natural, artificial, or both) of a part or the whole of the earth's surface, that bears the seal of and is certified by a land surveyor, as defined in section 20-299(2) of The Connecticut General Statutes.

(e) "Plan" means a drawing, print or graphical representation depicting a building or other improvement, existing or proposed, such as an engineering design plan, a condominium, a common interest community or other architectural building plan or a landscape architectural plan, that is signed and sealed by a design professional authorized to prepare such plan.

(f) The "producer" of an original map or plan for filing is the person who draws the map or plan: the "producer" of a copy of a map or plan for filing is the person or company that creates the reproduction.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

Sec. 11-8-21. Map standards

(a) Maps or plans bearing a date of October 1, 1974 or later, submitted to the town clerk, shall be of a process approved by the public records administrator and the process shall be identified by the producer on the map submitted.

(b) Maps or plans presented to town clerks for filing on or after January 1, 1992 shall be produced by one of the following processes: 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic polyester film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen. The Office of the Public Records Administrator shall have the authority to revise these accepted processes periodically, and shall maintain a current list of approved reprographic processes for filing requirements for maps.

(c) Maps or plans presented to town clerks for filing on or after January 1, 1992 shall be identified as to the reproduction process used by the producer, e.g., "wash-off" or "fixed line photographic." This process will be certified by a live stamp applied by the producer. This stamp will be affixed with indelible red ink. The stamp shall include the name of the producer and the process used. It shall measure $1'' \ge 2''$. Original ink drawings will be so identified using the same process described above.

(d) The thickness of the material on which maps or plans are drawn or reproduced shall be no less than .003. The polyester shall be either matte on one side or matte on both sides.

(e) The public records administrator shall notify the State Board of Examiners for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors and other concerned agencies as to which materials and photographic processes are acceptable for maps that are submitted for filing and preservation.

(f) Maps or plans presented for record and preservation shall not be accepted if any part is attached/glued to its surface. The legibility of all data reflected on any map or plans filed for record and preservation shall be beyond question. Maps or plans presented for filing

with illegible or questionable images shall be rejected.

(g) The size of maps or plans filed for record in the office of the town clerk shall conform with the requirements set forth in Section 7-31 of the General Statutes.

(h) Each map, plan, drawing, or specification shall contain a live seal or live stamp of the design professional within whose area of expertise or professional discipline the document falls.

(i) Security film of maps or plans placed on file in the office of the town clerk shall be required and stored in a manner similar to security film of deeds. Photographic reproduction must be provided pursuant to Section 7-31 of the General Statutes.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

Sec. 11-8-22. Map standards—exceptions

(a) Public service companies are exempt from the requirement that land maps filed by them must be sealed and/or signed by a land surveyor, as set forth in section 20-309. However, maps must conform to size and material requirements. Maps or plans filed for record that are not to scale shall reflect that fact.

(b) Maps or plans placed with the town clerk by municipal, state or federal agencies for temporary exhibit and public reference need not conform to Sections 11-8-19 to 11-8-25, inclusive, of these regulations, which only apply to maps or plans filed for record.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

Sec. 11-8-23. Receipt of maps

(a) All maps or plans delivered to the town clerk for filing must be properly drawn, signed, and sealed. He/she shall immediately endorse upon the face of each map or plan the day, month, year, and time it was received pursuant to Section 7-24 of the General Statutes.

(b) Each map or plan shall be assigned and marked with an identification number, and must be reflected in the map indexes.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

Sec. 11-8-24. Index of maps

(a) Town clerks shall maintain two separate map indexes pursuant to section 7-32 of the General Statutes.

(b) For locating and reference purposes, each indexing shall also show the map identification number assigned by the town clerk.

(c) Condominium or common interest community building plans filed pursuant to Section 47-71(e) of the General Statutes for recording purposes shall be received and indexed as maps.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

TITLE 11. Libraries

§11-8-25

State Library

Sec. 11-8-25. Photographic reproduction of maps

The photographic reproduction of maps or plans is approved. Reproduction methods shall require that the original maps be available for reference pursuant to Section 7-31 of the General Statutes.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)

Sec. 11-8-26. Storage of maps

(a) Maps or plans require the security set forth in Section 7-27 of the General Statutes for public records. Selectmen, chief administrative officers or elected bodies shall be required to provide map cases or bindings in which original maps or plans are to be preserved. Maps or plans shall not be mounted on boards or any other material and shall not be folded.

(b) Valuable old paper maps or plans with cloth backing shall be filed flat (not rolled). All repairs to valuable maps or plans shall be performed by a professional conservator approved by the Office of the Public Records Administrator.

(Effective November 25, 1991; Amended January 28, 2010)